
Document Number: 1744333 V1 

 
 
 
 

 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 4, 2019 
COUNCIL MEETING – 6:00 PM 

 
“Live” Broadcast via City Website www.cnv.org/LiveStreaming 

Complete Agenda Package available at www.cnv.org/CouncilMeetings 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, February 4, 2019. 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, January 21, 2019. 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 

Black History Month – February 2019 
Toastmasters Month – February 2019 

 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3, *4 and *5 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately 
or in one motion. 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692” 

(Livability RS and RT Minor Amendments) 
 
*4. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693” 

(Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure) 
 
*5. “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective 

January 1, 2019) 
 
DELEGATION 
 

CityFEST 2019 – Neil Chowdhury, Director, and Brendan Dick, Operations 
Direction, CityFEST 
 
Item 6 refers. 
 

CORRESPONDENCE 
 
6. CityFEST 2019 – CityFEST Promo Committee, January 21, 2019 
  

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL TO 
COMMENCE AT 6:00 PM, IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY 
HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 4, 2019. 



The Corporation of the   Council Agenda for 
City of North Vancouver Page 2 February 4, 2019 
 
POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Options to Regulate Licensed Lounges Accessory to Breweries and Distilleries 
 
RECOMMENDATION OF THE POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
7. Options to Regulate Licensed Lounges Accessory to Breweries and Distilleries 
 

Report, September 19, 2018 – “Preliminary Direction for Rezoning: 
266 East Esplanade” 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
8. North Vancouver Football Club 2019 Euro Travel Team – Darla Johnston, NVFC 

Euro 2019 Parent Committee, January 14, 2019 
 

Information Report, January 23, 2019 – “Status of 2019 Council Contingency 
Grants Accounts” 

 
9. Recycling Council of British Columbia’s Conference on Circular Economy – 

Brock Macdonald, Chief Executive Officer, Recycling Council of British Columbia, 
January 11, 2019 

 
REPORT 
 
10. 50th Anniversary of Twinning Relationship with Chiba City 
 

Information Report, January 30, 2019 – “Funding Provided by the City of North 
Vancouver for the North Shore Lions Youth Exchange” 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
11. North Shore Housing – Mayor Buchanan 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(a) [personal information], 90(1)(e) 
[land matter], 90(1)(g) [legal matter] and 90(2)(b) [contract negotiations]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure 
Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500.” 
 
The time allotted for each speaker appearing before Council during the Public Input 
Period is two minutes, with the number of speakers set at five persons.  Speakers’ 
presentations will be audio and video recorded, as well as live-streamed on the Internet, 
and will form part of the public record. 
 
To make a submission to Council during the Public Input Period, a person must 
complete the Public Input Period sign-up sheet at City Hall prior to the Regular Council 
Meeting.  A person who fails to complete, or only partially completes, the Public Input 
Period sign-up sheet will not be permitted to make a submission to Council during the 
Public Input Period.  The sign-up sheet will be available on the table in the lobby outside 
the Council Chamber from 5:30 pm until 5:55 pm before a Council meeting. 
 
When appearing before Council, speakers are requested to state their name and 
address for the record.  Speakers may display materials on the document camera at the 
podium in the Council Chamber and provide written materials to the City Clerk for 
distribution to Council, only if these materials have been provided to the City Clerk by 
4:00 pm on the date of the meeting. 
 
The Public Input Period provides an opportunity for input only, without the expectation of 
a response from Council, and places the speaker’s concern on record. 
 
Speakers must comply with the General Rules of Conduct set out in section 5.1 of 
“Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and may not speak with respect to items as 
listed in section 12.25(2). 
 
Speakers are requested not to address matters that refer to items from a concluded 
Public Hearing/Public Meeting and to Public Hearings, Public Meetings and Committee 
meetings when those matters are scheduled on the same evening’s agenda and an 
opportunity for public input is provided when the particular item comes forward for 
discussion. 
 
Please address the Mayor as “Mayor, followed by his/her surname” or “Your Worship”.  
Councillors should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”. 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3, *4 and *5 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately 
or in one motion. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692” 

(Livability RS and RT Minor Amendments) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692” 
(Livability RS and RT Minor Amendments) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and 
City Clerk and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
*4. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693” 

(Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693” 
(Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and 
City Clerk and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
*5. “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective 

January 1, 2019) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective 
January 1, 2019) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and City Clerk and affixed 
with the corporate seal. 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
DELEGATION 
 

CityFEST 2019 – Neil Chowdhury, Director, and Brendan Dick, Operations 
Direction, CityFEST 
 
Item 6 refers. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
6. CityFEST Promo Committee, January 21, 2019 – File 15-8100-20-0001/2019 
 

Re: CityFEST 2019 Update 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the correspondence from the CityFEST Promo Committee, dated January 
15, 2019, regarding the “CityFEST 2019 Update”, be received with thanks. 

 
POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
Re: Options to Regulate Licensed Lounges Accessory to Breweries and 

Distilleries – File: 01-0550-20-0310/1 
 
Chair: Mayor Linda Buchanan 
 
Purpose: The purpose of the Policy Committee Meeting is to consider options for 

regulating licensed lounges accessory to breweries and distilleries in the 
M-4 Commercial-Industrial Zone and to make recommendations for 
Council’s consideration. 

 
1. Staff Presentation – Planner 1 

 
2. Public Comments – 3 minutes per speaker 

 
Members of the community were provided the opportunity to submit 
comments until 4:00 pm on Monday, February 4, 2019. The public may 
also provide comments in person at the Policy Committee Meeting. 

 
3. Questions / Comments from the Policy Committee 

 
4. RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT staff prepare an amendment to the M-4 Commercial-Industrial Zone 
to support breweries and distilleries with an accessory lounge. 

 
5. Adjourn  
 
Item 7 refers. 

  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION OF THE POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
7. Options to Regulate Licensed Lounges Accessory to Breweries and Distilleries 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT staff prepare an amendment to the M-4 Commercial-Industrial Zone to 
support breweries and distilleries with an accessory lounge. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
8. Darla Johnston, NVFC Euro 2019 Parent Committee, January 14, 2019 

– File: 01-0220-07-0001/2019 
 
 Re: North Vancouver Football Club 2019 Euro Travel Team 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the correspondence from Darla Johnston, NVFC Euro 2019 Parent 
Committee, dated January 14, 2019, regarding the “North Vancouver Football 
Club 2019 Euro Travel Team”, be received with thanks; 
 
AND THAT Council support the North Vancouver Football Club 2019 Euro Travel 
Team with funding in the amount of $          per player, for a total of $         , to be 
allocated from the Council Contingency Fund. 

 
9. Recycling Council of British Columbia’s Conference on Circular Economy, May 8 

to 10, 2019 – File: 01-0230-20-0050/2019 
 

Re: Recycling Council of British Columbia’s Conference on Circular Economy, 
May 8 to 10, 2019, Whistler, BC 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
PURSUANT to the correspondence received January 17, 2019, from the 
Recycling Council of British Columbia, regarding the “Conference on Circular 
Economy”: 
 
THAT Council members be authorized to attend the Conference on Circular 
Economy, to be held May 8 to 10, 2019, in Whistler, BC; 
 
THAT the expenses be paid in accordance with City Policy; 
 
AND THAT the funds be provided from the Conference Education Travel 
Account. 

  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
REPORT 
 
10. 50th Anniversary of Twinning Relationship with Chiba City – File 01-0400-65-0001/2019 
 

Report: Chief Administrative Officer, January 23, 2019 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated January 23, 
2019, entitled “50th Anniversary of Twinning Relationship with Chiba City”: 
 
THAT staff further explore the Twin City partnership to determine opportunities 
for honouring the City’s partnership in 2019 (Option 1), as outlined in the report; 
 
THAT the correspondence of George Sim, Chairman, North Shore Lions Youth 
Exchange, dated January 21, 2019, regarding “Request for Funding”, be 
received; 
 
AND THAT Council support the North Shore Lions Youth Exchange by providing 
funding in the amount of $6,000, to be allocated from the Sister City Fund. 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
11. North Shore Housing – File 10-5040-01-0001/2019 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the historic escalation in housing prices has resulted in a lack of 
attainable housing options for those working on the North Shore with wide-
ranging implications for the North Shore’s economy and business vitality and 
increased congestion and lengthier commutes; 
 
WHEREAS the goal of achieving complete and inclusive communities with 
opportunities to live and work is shared by all jurisdictions on the North Shore; 
 
WHEREAS the City’s Housing Action Plan recognizes that partnerships are key 
to meaningfully addressing housing challenges on the North Shore given limited 
municipal resources; 
 
AND WHEREAS the needs of moderate income earners are not well served by 
any existing housing policies or programs; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that staff develop and implement a 
collaborative North Shore Housing “Solutions Lab” focused on identifying 
opportunities and high impact actions to address the urgent need for housing 
facing low and moderate income earners.  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(a) [personal information], 90(1)(e) 
[land matter], 90(1)(g) [legal matter] and 90(2)(b) [contract negotiations]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 



Document Number: 1741271 V1 

 
 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14th  STREET, NORTH 
VANCOUVER, BC, ON MONDAY, JANUARY 21, 2019. 

 
 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 
STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard 
Councillor T. Hu  
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor T. Valente 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, City Clerk 
J. Peters, Assistant City Clerk 
B. Themens, Director, Finance 
M. Epp, Director, Planning 
S. Galloway, Manager, Planning 
D. Johnson, Development Planner 
L. Lensink, Environmental Technician 
J. Draper, Manager, Transportation 
T. Huckell, Committee Clerk 

 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, January 21, 2019. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, January 14, 2019. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared the following proclamations: 

 

BC Aware 2019: Be Secure, Be Aware, Days – January 28 to February 5, 2019 
Heart Month – February 2019 

 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 

• Ron Sostad, 231 East 15th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding cannabis and 
social housing. 

• Heather Drugge, 354 East 22nd Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding Item 10 and 
support for bike valet services. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of January 21, 2019 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT the recommendation listed within the “Consent Agenda”, be approved. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
REPORT 
 
*3. Recommended Museum Deaccessions #13 – File: 15-7930-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Director, North Vancouver Museum and Archives, January 9, 2019 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, North Vancouver Museum and Archives, 
dated January 9, 2019, entitled “Recommended Museum Deaccessions #13”: 

 
THAT Council authorize the North Vancouver Museum and Archives (NVMA) 
Commission to deaccession and dispose of 1,079 artifacts owned solely by the City of 
North Vancouver; 

 
THAT Council authorize the NVMA Commission to deaccession and dispose of 19 
artifacts owned jointly by the City and the District of North Vancouver; 
 
THAT Council authorize the NVMA Commission to dispose of 637 unaccessioned 
objects that have been found in the Museum Collection and are owned jointly by the 
City and the District of North Vancouver; 
 
AND THAT all proceeds from the sale of deaccessioned materials be deposited in a 
Special Purpose Fund for the Commission’s use in maintaining the Museum and 
Archives collections and acquiring new items to augment the collections. 

 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
REPORT 
 

4. Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694 (Council Indemnity Effective January 1, 
2019) – File: 01-0530-04-0001/2019 

 

Report: City Clerk, January 9, 2019 
 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the City Clerk, dated January 9, 2019, entitled “Council 
Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694 (Council Indemnity Effective January 1, 2019)”: 

 

THAT “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective January 
1, 2019) be considered. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 3 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of January 21, 2019 

BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
5. “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective January 1, 2019) 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

THAT “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective January 
1, 2019) be given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

THAT “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective January 
1, 2019) be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT Item 10 be brought forward for consideration. 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
10. Bike Valet Services at Local Events – File: 16-8480-01-0001/2019 
 
 Submitted by Councillor Valente 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver and Council have a goal of being “the 
healthiest small city in the world”; 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver hosts many exciting, well-attended events, 
including the Shipyards Night Market, Summer Sessions, Fun City, Caribbean Days, 
and many more; 
  
WHEREAS often at these events existing bike racks become oversubscribed and safe 
storage places for families with scooters or strollers do not currently exist; 
 
WHEREAS bike valet is a service much like a coat check where people can leave a 
bike, stroller or scooter in a safe location watched over by volunteers or paid staff for a 
nominal fee or donation; 
  
AND WHEREAS other municipalities in Metro Vancouver, including Vancouver and 
Surrey, support or require bike valet services at municipal events; 
  
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff investigate and report back to Council 
regarding how City of North Vancouver events could include valet services, including 
identifying costs, potential locations, funding opportunities and partnerships with local 
businesses and organizations. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 4 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of January 21, 2019 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT the meeting recess until the start of the public hearing. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared a recess at 6:18 pm until the start of the public hearing. 

 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT the meeting recess to the Public Hearing regarding “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 
6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8665” (GWL Realty Advisors / Rositch Hempill 
Architects, 210-230 East 2nd Street, CD-715) and “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8666” (GWL Realty Advisors / Rositch Hempill Architects, 210-230 East 2nd Street, 
CD-715, Rental Housing Commitments). 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Public Hearing at 6:30 pm and reconvened at 7:57 pm. 
 
BYLAWS – THIRD READING 
 
6. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8665” (GWL Realty 

Advisors / Rositch Hempill Architects, 210-230 East 2nd Street, CD-715) 
 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8665” (GWL 
Realty Advisors / Rositch Hempill Architects, 210-230 East 2nd Street, CD-715) be 
given third reading. 

CARRIED 
 

Councillor Back is recorded as voting contrary to the motion. 
 
7. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8666” (GWL Realty Advisors / Rositch Hempill 

Architects, 210-230 East 2nd Street, CD-715, Rental Housing Commitments) 
 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8666” (GWL Realty Advisors / Rositch 
Hempill Architects, 210-230 East 2nd Street, CD-715, Rental Housing Commitments) 
be given third reading. 

CARRIED 
 

Councillor Back is recorded as voting contrary to the motion. 
 
8. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692” (Livability RS and 

RT Minor Amendments) 
 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692” (Livability 
RS and RT Minor Amendments) be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 5 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of January 21, 2019 

BYLAWS – THIRD READING – Continued  
 
9. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693” (Electric Vehicle 

Charging Infrastructure) 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 

 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693” (Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure) be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared a recess at 8:22 pm for the Public Clarification Period and 
reconvened the meeting immediately after. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
Nil. 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Nil. 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Nil. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
The meeting adjourned at 8:23 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the City Clerk” 
____________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

BLACK HISTORY MONTH 
 
WHEREAS British Columbia is a culturally diverse province comprised 

of many people and communities including people of 
African descent who have been a part of our province 
since 1858 and have contributed to its cultural, economic, 
political and social development; and 
 

WHEREAS in celebrating Black History Month, we affirm the place of 
people of African descent within the national mosaic and 
seek to raise public awareness of the many cultures that 
make up the local Black community, as well as the 
contributions this community has made and continues to 
make to the development of Canada; and 
 

WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver supports the objectives of 
Black History Month in promoting an understanding of 
multiculturalism, acceptance of diversity and a dedication 
to equality; 
 

NOW THEREFORE I, Linda Buchanan, Mayor of the City of North Vancouver, 
do hereby proclaim February 2019 as BLACK HISTORY 
MONTH in the City of North Vancouver, the traditional 
territories of the Squamish and Tsleil-Waututh Nations. 

 
So proclaimed on February 4, 2019 

 

 
Mayor Linda Buchanan 

 



 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

TOASTMASTERS MONTH 
 
WHEREAS Toastmasters International is a non-profit educational 

organization with over 357,000 members in 143 countries, 
and in British Columbia alone there are 5,000 members 
taking part in 280 clubs; and 
 

WHEREAS Toastmasters recognizes that the ability to speak clearly 
and effectively is a powerful and important skill that 
enables individuals to overcome barriers to success in 
virtually every social and vocational endeavor; and 
 

WHEREAS by helping people develop essential communication and 
leadership skills, Toastmasters International and its 
member clubs foster personal development and human 
understanding, performing a valuable service to its 
members and to the larger community; 
 

NOW THEREFORE I, Linda Buchanan, Mayor of the City of North Vancouver, 
do hereby proclaim February 2019 as TOASTMASTERS 
MONTH in the City of North Vancouver, the traditional 
territories of the Squamish and Tsleil-Waututh Nations. 

 
So proclaimed on Monday, February 4, 2019 

 
 

 
Mayor Linda Buchanan 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 

The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure 
Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500.” 
 

The time allotted for each speaker appearing before Council during the Public Input 
Period is two minutes, with the number of speakers set at five persons.  Speakers’ 
presentations will be audio and video recorded, as well as live-streamed on the Internet, 
and will form part of the public record. 
 

To make a submission to Council during the Public Input Period, a person must 
complete the Public Input Period sign-up sheet at City Hall prior to the Regular Council 
Meeting.  A person who fails to complete, or only partially completes, the Public Input 
Period sign-up sheet will not be permitted to make a submission to Council during the 
Public Input Period.  The sign-up sheet will be available on the table in the lobby outside 
the Council Chamber from 5:30 pm until 5:55 pm before a Council meeting. 
 

When appearing before Council, speakers are requested to state their name and 
address for the record.  Speakers may display materials on the document camera at the 
podium in the Council Chamber and provide written materials to the City Clerk for 
distribution to Council, only if these materials have been provided to the City Clerk by 
4:00 pm on the date of the meeting. 
 

The Public Input Period provides an opportunity for input only, without the expectation of 
a response from Council, and places the speaker’s concern on record. 
 

Speakers must comply with the General Rules of Conduct set out in section 5.1 of 
“Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and may not speak with respect to items as 
listed in section 12.25(2). 
 

Speakers are requested not to address matters that refer to items from a concluded 
Public Hearing/Public Meeting and to Public Hearings, Public Meetings and Committee 
meetings when those matters are scheduled on the same evening’s agenda and an 
opportunity for public input is provided when the particular item comes forward for 
discussion. 
 

Please address the Mayor as “Mayor, followed by his/her surname” or “Your Worship”.  
Councillors should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”. 
  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3, *4 and *5 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately 
or in one motion. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692” 

(Livability RS and RT Minor Amendments) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692” 
(Livability RS and RT Minor Amendments) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and 
City Clerk and affixed with the corporate seal. 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692 Document: 1722499-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8692 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692” (Livability RS and RT Minor Amendments). 
 
2. Division I: Administration of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended as follows: 
 

A. In Part 2: Interpretation, add the definition for “Basement (Accessory Coach House 
Use)” as follows: 

 
“Basement (Accessory Coach House Use)” means non-habitable storage space 
directly below the First Storey of an Accessory Coach House, without windows or 
plumbing, except for plumbing directly servicing mechanical equipment, the area of 
which does not exceed the area of the First Storey, and where Cooking Facilities are 
prohibited; 

 
3. Division III: Zone Standards of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended as follows: 
 

A. In Part 5: Residential Zone Regulations, replace Subsection (3) to Section 507: Special 
Provisions for Uses in Residential Zones with the following: 

 
(3) Sunken Patio 

 
A sunken patio is permitted, up to a maximum of 18.6 square metres (200 square 
feet), for each Dwelling Unit with access located partially or fully below the First 
Storey of the building; 

 
B. In Part 5: Residential Zone Regulations, amend Section 509 as follows: 
 

(1) Replace Subsection (6)(e)(ii) with the following: 
 

(ii) the Basement (Accessory Coach House Use) is used only for storage of 
personal goods or things; or for workshop or gardening uses. Residential 
Uses, Habitable Rooms and laundry facilities are prohibited. 

 
C. In Part 5: Residential Zone Regulations, amend Section 509A as follows: 
 

(1) Replace Subsection (2)(a) with the following: 
 

(a) combined and in total, shall not exceed the lesser of: 
(i) 0.35 times the Lot Area plus 92.9 square metres (1,000 square feet); 

or 
(ii) 0.5 times the Lot Area 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8692 Document: 1722499-v1 

4. Division V: Comprehensive Development Zones of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, 
No. 6700” is hereby amended as follows: 

 
A. In Section 1101 of Part 11: Comprehensive Development Zone Regulations, replace 

the first paragraph for Comprehensive Development 596 Zone as follows: 
 

In the CD-596 Zone, permitted uses, regulations for permitted uses, regulations for the 
size, shape and siting of buildings and structures and required off-street parking shall 
be as in the RS-2 Zone, except that: 

 
C. In Section 1101 of Part 11: Comprehensive Development Zone Regulations, replace 

the first paragraph for Comprehensive Development 663 Zone as follows: 
 

In the CD-663 Zone, permitted uses, regulations for permitted uses, regulations for the 
size, shape and siting of buildings and structures and required off-street parking shall 
be as in the RS-2 Zone, except that: 

 
D. In Section 1101 of Part 11: Comprehensive Development Zone Regulations, replace 

the first paragraph for Comprehensive Development 705 Zone as follows: 
 

In the CD-705 Zone, permitted uses, regulations for permitted uses, regulations for the 
size, shape and siting of buildings and structures and required off-street parking shall 
be as in the RS-2 Zone, except that: 

 
E. In Section 1101 of Part 11: Comprehensive Development Zone Regulations, replace 

the first paragraph for Comprehensive Development 706 Zone as follows: 
 

In the CD-706 Zone, permitted uses, regulations for permitted uses, regulations for the 
size, shape and siting of buildings and structures and required off-street parking shall 
be as in the RT-1 Zone, except that: 

 
 

READ a first time on the 10th day of December, 
2018. 

READ a second time on the 10th day of 
December, 2018. 

READ a third time on the 21st day of January, 
2019. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
*4. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693” 

(Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693” 
(Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and 
City Clerk and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693 Document: 1712468-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8693 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693” (Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure). 
 
2.  “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended as follows: 
 

A. Division 1: Part 2: Interpretation by adding the following definitions in alphabetical 
order: 

 
“Electric Vehicle” means a vehicle that uses electricity for propulsion and that can 
use an external source of electricity to charge the vehicle’s batteries. 
 
“Electric Vehicle Energy Management System” means a system used to control 
electric vehicle supply equipment loads through the process of connecting, 
disconnecting, increasing, or reducing electric power to the loads and consisting of 
any of the following: a monitor(s), communications equipment, a controller(s), a 
timer(s), and other applicable device(s). 
 
“Energized Outlet” means a connected point in an electrical wiring installation at 
which current is taken and a source of voltage is connected to supply utilization 
equipment.  
 
“Level 2 Charging” means a Level 2 Electric Vehicle charging level as defined by 
SAE International’s J1772 standard.  

 
B. Division IV: Part 9: Parking and Access Regulations by adding the following section 

after 908: 
 

909 Provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 
 

(1) All parking spaces required for Residential Uses in accordance with Figure 
9-3 – Minimum Parking Provision by Class of Building and parking spaces 
for Shared Vehicles, shall include an Energized Outlet capable of providing 
Level 2 charging or a higher charging level for an Electric Vehicle, except: 

 
(a) parking spaces for Visitor Parking; and 
(b) parking spaces for Accessory Secondary Suite Use. 

 
(2) Energized Outlets provided pursuant to Section 909(1) above shall be 

labeled for the use of Electric Vehicle charging. 
 

(3) Where an Electric Vehicle Energy Management System is implemented, 
the Director of Planning may specify a minimum performance standard to 
ensure a sufficient rate of Electric Vehicle charging. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8693 Document: 1712468-v1 

3. This Bylaw shall be effective as of the 1st day of June, 2019. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 10th day of December, 
2018. 

READ a second time on the 10th day of 
December, 2018. 

READ a third time on the 21st day of January, 
2019. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
*5. “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective 

January 1, 2019) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective 
January 1, 2019) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and City Clerk and affixed 
with the corporate seal. 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694 Document: 1729658-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8694 

A Bylaw to provide for the payment of annual indemnity, remuneration and 
acting pay to the Mayor and Council of The Corporation of the 

City of North Vancouver effective January 1, 2019 

 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2019, 

No. 8694” (Council Indemnity Effective January 1, 2019). 
 
2. The purpose of this bylaw is to set the 2019 annual indemnity for the Mayor, Councillors 

and Acting Mayor, to be paid out of the annual revenue of the City, based on 1/3 of the 2018 
Consumer Price Index (CPI), 1/3 of the amount granted to CUPE Local 389 and 1/3 of the 
2019 amount granted to IAFF Local 296, as follows: 

 
1/3 of the 2018 Consumer Price Index (CPI) of 2.20% .733% 
1/3 of increase to CUPE Local 389 for 2019 of 2.00% .667% 
1/3 of increase to IAFF Local 296 for 2019 of 2.50% .833% 
(factors are rounded) 

 
3. Effective January 1, 2019, the annual indemnities for the Mayor and Council shall be: 
 

Mayor $127,111 
Councillor $  42,454 

 
to be paid in 26 bi-weekly instalments. 

 
4. In consideration of the roles and responsibilities carried out by the Acting Mayor over a 2 

month period, monthly compensation of $1,545 for Councillors performing the role of 
Acting Mayor will be paid effective January 1, 2019. 

 
 Each Councillor will receive acting pay for a 2 month period, to be paid in 26 bi-weekly 

instalments. 
 

The schedule for Acting Mayor is as follows: 
 

Councillor Bell November – December 
Councillor Back January – February 
Councillor Valente March – April 
Councillor Girard May – June 
Councillor Hu July – August 
Councillor McIlroy September – October 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2019, No. 8694 Document: 1729658-v1 

3. “Council Indemnity Bylaw, 2017, No. 8604” (Council Indemnity Effective January 1, 2018), 
and all amendments thereto, is hereby repealed. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 21st day of January, 
2019. 

READ a second time on the 21st day of 
January, 2019. 

READ a third time on the 21st day of January, 
2019. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
DELEGATION 
 

CityFEST 2019 – Neil Chowdhury, Director, and Brendan Dick, Operations 
Direction, CityFEST 
 
Item 6 refers. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
6. CityFEST Promo Committee, January 21, 2019 – File 15-8100-20-0001/2019 
 

Re: CityFEST 2019 Update 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the correspondence from the CityFEST Promo Committee, dated January 
15, 2019, regarding the “CityFEST 2019 Update”, be received with thanks. 

  



CityFEST
Delegation



What is CityFEST?
• Youth led festival “for youth by youth”

• Showcases youth talents

• Provides a great opportunity for leadership 
development 



Who Are We? What Do We DO?
• Youth ambassadors for CityFEST

• We promote CityFEST through:   

1. Various social media platforms 

(Instagram, Facebook, Snapchat, etc.)

2. Signs and posters in high school and 

around the City of North Vancouver

3. Word of mouth!



6 CORE VALUES OF CityFEST
• Partnership

• Showcase

• Engagement

• Leadership

• Diversity

• Celebration



Partnership
• “Connecting your brand with the North 

Shore’s largest youth Festival; run by 

Youth, for youth”

• Over 30 local youth organizations and 

businesses come together to celebrate 

youth

• CityFEST allows local businesses to 

showcase what they offer and support 

youth at the same time 



SHOWCASE
• Hundreds of local youth get the chance to 

show off their talents in visual arts & film, 

performing arts, skateboard and longboard

• CityFEST offers an “easy access” first 

opportunity to perform or compete



ENGAGEMENT
• 6,000+ people attended last year’s festival  

• 75% of whom were in the target youth 

audience of 10- to 24-year olds

• Many opportunities to be involved in 

community

• Opportunities to find their own talents



LEADERSHIP
• “Run by youth for youth”, local youth Ambassadors 

work for 6 months to vision, plan, promote, and run 

CityFEST

• Sub-Committees: Promotion, Visual Arts & Film, 

Performing Arts, Food and Skateboard/Longboard

• Responsibility/initiative within sub-committees



DIVERSITY
CityFEST offers a safe environment for 

a diverse array of demographics, 

ethnicities and interests to learn, thrive, 

connect and lead



CELEBRATION
Celebrating where we live and the 

young people that make our city 

special



the youth ol the north shore present

HSf
xSAT. MAY 4,11

To: Karla Graham, City Clerk 
From: CityFEST Promo Committee

RE: CityFEST Delegation to City Council

Representatives from the CityFEST Promo sub-committee would like to appear as a delegation 
before council on Feb. 4, 2019. Youth and youth workers will present CityFEST's past successes 
and plans for this year's event on May 4, 2019.

CityFEST is a youth-led festival that showcases youth talents including performing arts, visual 
arts & film, and skateboarding & longboarding. For many youth, CityFEST offers an accessible 
opportunity to perform, compete and gain experience in event management. There will be 
approximately 30 youth, 12 youth outreach workers, and eight other adults planning this year's 
event. CityFEST brings together various agencies, community groups, and businesses including 
North Van Rec & Culture, Youth Unlimited, North Shore Alliance Church, City of North Van, 
North Shore Neighbourhood Flouse, Capilano Community Services, and others.

CityFEST offers a safe environment for young people from a diverse array of demographics, 
ethnicities and interests to learn, thrive, connect and lead. Last year's festival succeeded in 
drawing over 6,000 attendees.
We would like to share a brief, five-minute presentation and answer any questions the Mayor 
and Council may have about CityFEST 2019.

Thank you for providing us with this opportunity to present to the community and we hope to 
see everyone at CityFEST on May 4 at Centennial Theatre and Lonsdale Skatepark.

—CityFEST Promo Committee (on behalf of all of our volunteers)

Reviewed by:

CAP



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
Re: Options to Regulate Licensed Lounges Accessory to Breweries and 

Distilleries – File: 01-0550-20-0310/1 
 
Chair: Mayor Linda Buchanan 
 
Purpose: The purpose of the Policy Committee Meeting is to consider options for 

regulating licensed lounges accessory to breweries and distilleries in the 
M-4 Commercial-Industrial Zone and to make recommendations for 
Council’s consideration. 

 
1. Staff Presentation – Planner 1 

 
2. Public Comments – 3 minutes per speaker 

 
Members of the community were provided the opportunity to submit 
comments until 4:00 pm on Monday, February 4, 2019. The public may 
also provide comments in person at the Policy Committee Meeting. 

 
3. Questions / Comments from the Policy Committee 

 
4. RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT staff prepare an amendment to the M-4 Commercial-Industrial Zone 
to support breweries and distilleries with an accessory lounge. 

 
5. Adjourn  
 
Item 7 refers. 

 
RECOMMENDATION OF THE POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
7. Options to Regulate Licensed Lounges Accessory to Breweries and Distilleries 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT staff prepare an amendment to the M-4 Commercial-Industrial Zone to 
support breweries and distilleries with an accessory lounge. 

 
  



M IAJ
Division
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Darrell R. Mussatto and Members of Council

From: Mike Friesen, Planner 1

SUBJECT: PRELIMINARY DIRECTION FOR REZONING: 266 EAST ESPLANADE 

Date: September 19,2018 File No: 08-3360-20-0437/1

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated September 19, 2018, entitled 
"Preliminary Direction for Rezoning: 266 East Esplanade”:

THAT staff be directed to consider and prepare a Zoning Bylaw amendment that 
would permit accessory lounge uses in conjunction with a liquor manufacturing use 
in the existing M-4 Industrial Commercial Zone;

AND THAT staff continue to work with the applicant to process their application and 
prepare a Zoning Bylaw amendment for 266 East Esplanade.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Context Map (Doc #17006101
2. Preliminary Architectural Drawings for 266 East Esplanade (Doc #1700485)
3. M-4 Industrial-Commercial Zone Properties (Doc #1700708)

Document Number: 1700480 VI



REPORT: Preliminary Direction for Rezoning: 266 East Esplanade
Date: September 19, 2018

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to present, for Council consideration, the preliminary plans for a 
proposed rezoning of 266 East Esplanade. The rezoning would change the existing M-4 
Industrial-Commercial Zone to a Comprehensive Development (CD) zone to support the 
renovation of the existing building, anchored by a brewery with an accessory lounge use.

BACKGROUND

Applicant: Ian Ross McDonald, Carscadden Stokes McDonald 
Architects

Architect: Ian Ross McDonald, Carscadden Stokes McDonald 
Architects

Official Community Plan 
Designation:

Mixed Employment

Existing Zoning: M-4 Industrial-Commercial Zone
Applicable Guidelines: None

DISCUSSION 

Project Description

The applicant is proposing the rezoning of one lot to support the refurbishing of an existing 
structure (please see: Attachment 2 - Preliminary Architectural Drawings). The rezoning is 
required in order to accommodate a brewery with a kitchen/lounge component as an 
accessory use to the brewing component. The existing structure is intended to be retained, 
with a significant redesign of the interior to provide space for a new brewery, and to refresh 
existing commercial retail units.

The site has an area of 1,669 m2 (17,970 sq.ft.) and the development has an existing area of 
2,570 m2 (27,673 sq.ft) of 1.54 FSR. The applicant is proposing a nominal increase to 1.55 
FSR (2,587 m2) in order to provide emergency egress from a proposed rooftop deck and the 
second storey of the brewery; a rezoning is not required for the small increase in floor area. 
The building envelope will not change, but the cladding will be upgraded for both design and 
energy efficiency purposes, including a proposed green roof. Major upgrades include a new 
elevator as well as the previously mentioned stairwell and rooftop deck.

The proposal includes on-site parking for 15 vehicles as well as one loading space, all of 
which will be accessible via the rear lane. Pedestrian access to businesses is from 
Esplanade, and as a part of the rezoning the applicant will be responsible for street scape 
upgrades to enhance the public realm. A transportation study will be required with the full 
rezoning application, should Council provide direction to proceed.

Page 2 of 6



REPORT: Preliminary Direction for Rezoning: 266 East Esplanade
Date: September 19, 2018

Site Context and Surrounding Use

The subject site is located on the northwestern corner of the intersection of East Esplanade 
Avenue and St. Andrews Avenue (please see: Attachment 1 - Context Map). The subject site 
currently hosts four tenants.

This area of East Esplanade is an important part of the City of North Vancouver’s industrial 
land supply. The M-4 Industrial-Commercial zoning designation provides significant flexibility 
to a variety of industrial and light industrial businesses. Consideration for industrial land uses 
and the City’s Mixed Employment Official Community Plan (OCR) Designation will be further 
discussed in the Planning Analysis section below. As the building envelope will not increase 
in size, the scale of the structure will continue to fit within the generally two-storey typology 
typical of the area.

The site is located within 500 metres of Lonsdale Avenue, and is therefore well served by the 
City’s public transportation infrastructure as well as being walkable in relation to the Shipyards 
and the Lonsdale Quay. The subject site is also located adjacent to the City’s recently 
completed Spirit Trail. Additionally, the site is located at the nexus of two proposed All Ages 
and Abilities (AAA) bike facility along East Esplanade and St. Andrews Avenue.

The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the subject site are described in Table 1 
below.

Table 1. Surrounding Uses

Direction Address Description Zoning

North 261 East 1st 
Street

1 storey, 7 unit, 
commercial/industrial building

M-4 Industrial- 
Commercial

North 95 St. Andrews 
Avenue

3 storey, Metro Vancouver
Housing Corporation building

M-4 Industrial- 
Commercial

South 251 East 
Esplanade 3 storey, 1 unit, industrial building M-2 General 

Industrial

East 300 East 
Esplanade

1 storey, 1 unit, 
commercial/industrial building

M-4 Industrial- 
Commercial

West 260 East 
Esplanade

3 storey, 8 unit, 
commercial/industrial building

M-4 Industrial- 
Commercial

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

Policy Context

2014 Official Community Plan

The subject site is designated Mixed Employment in the City’s OCP. The Mixed Employment 
designation is intended to promote light industrial uses with a limited commercial use. The 
proposed lounge and kitchen would be accessory to the brewery function and would not 
require an amendment to the OCP in order to be rezoned.

Page 3 of 6



REPORT: Preliminary Direction for Rezoning: 266 East Esplanade
Date: September 19, 2018

The Mixed Employment designation provides a middle ground between traditional heavy 
industrial uses with their significant emissions and nuisances (noise), and commercial uses 
which provide limited opportunity for production. Brewery uses, with an associated lounge, 
provide a production focus with an accessory use that helps to advertise the brand.

In discussion with the business community and through the review of the other municipal 
policy and research, the inclusion of lounges provide several important synergies for 
breweries: promotion of the brand, the opportunity for product testing, and an important 
revenue stream to support brewing activities. These synergies provide expanded business 
opportunities, but remain dependent on the production use as the provincial liquor license 
requires that only drinks that are produced on site are able to be sold on the premises.

It should be noted that uses with high trip generation should generally not be located in Mixed 
Employment areas. However, while a lounge use may be a trip generator, the impact of trip 
generation is mitigated by several factors: the proximity of the subject site to the Lonsdale 
corridor and alternative transportation options; the peak hours (evenings) are generally not in 
competition with the surrounding businesses (primarily weekday, 9 to 5); and the use itself- 
the consumption of alcohol - means that vehicle transportation is unlikely to be the primary 
mode of transportation for those using the lounge services.

Zoning Bylaw

Breweries and alcohol production - including sales and sampling of what is produced on site 
- are currently permitted by the City’s zoning bylaw. However, in order to develop a lounge, 
restaurant, and rooftop deck, the zoning bylaw would need to be amended and a new 
comprehensive development zone created.

The Zoning Bylaw currently has a provision that prohibits Liquor Primary Uses in all zones 
unless specifically permitted through a comprehensive development zone. Council has 
previously directed staff to present all applications for liquor primary (lounge) uses to Council 
for consideration prior to a full rezoning application being accepted for processing. The 
application in question has had a preliminary review by staff and is now being presented to 
Council for direction.

The site is currently served by parking from the rear lane and has fifteen onsite parking spots. 
Preliminary review of the property identifies that due to the industrial nature of the use, the 
Zoning Bylaw would require a minimum of one space per 95 m2 of floor area; with a floor area 
2587 m2 the proposed use would require 27 parking stalls. The change in use may put 
increased strain on the parking facilities, however, as mentioned, the potential increase in 
parking demand is allayed by several factors including: non-competing peak hours with the 
surrounding businesses; proximity to the Lonsdale Corridor and Lonsdale Quay; and that 
patrons of the establishment should be unlikely to rely on private vehicle travel. A 
transportation study that investigates these items, as well as a review of existing on-street 
parking in the area, will be required as a part of the application for rezoning should Council 
direct staff to proceed.

OPTIONS

Over the past several months, staff have been approached by multiple brewers who are 
creating business plans and exploring opportunities for the development of breweries in the

Page 4 of 6



REPORT: Preliminary Direction for Rezoning: 266 East Esplanade
Date: September 19, 2018

Lower Lonsdale area. In addition to the potential rezoning at 266 East Esplanade, staff are 
expecting an additional three applications for rezoning in the coming weeks. In consideration 
of both Council time, staff resources, and fairness to applicants, staff is respectfully proposing 
that a general change to the Zoning Bylaw be considered to support brewery and lounge uses 
in the M-4 Industrial-Commercial Zone. A map identifying all of the City’s M-4 Industrial- 
Commercial Zone sites has been included as Attachment 3.

Breweries with lounges provide an opportunity to reinvest in the area while retaining 
production as the primary focus. Considering the area’s proximity to the Lonsdale Corridor 
and the Shipyards district, and the fact that the M-4 Industrial-Commercial Zone currently 
permits the development of breweries, the inclusion of an accessory lounge use in the zone 
will support small businesses while retaining the production as the primary use, and contribute 
to the changing character of the Lower Lonsdale area initiated by the City through, for 
example, the Shipyards redevelopment. With this in mind, the following options are presented 
for Council consideration:

Option 1: Direct staff to prepare an amendment to the M-4 Industrial Commercial 
Zone to support breweries with an accessory lounge (recommended)

Option 1 would direct staff to investigate how to effectively integrate breweries with accessory 
lounges into the M-4 Zone. The outcome of this option would be to present to Council an 
amendment to the City’s Zoning Bylaw that would permit the brewery and subsidiary lounge 
use as a right. Should Council select this option, staff will investigate various aspects of the 
brewery/lounge use type, such as appropriate sizes for lounges, the implications of 
commercial kitchens, and required parking. Staff would continue to work with the applicant 
for 266 East Esplanade so that, should Council determine that a global change to the M-4 
zone not be appropriate, the applicant could still approach Council with their site specific 
rezoning.

Option 2: Direct staff to process the application for rezoning at 266 East Esplanade 
and to continue to seek Council direction for individual applications

Should Council determine that a global change to the M-4 zone is not appropriate at this time, 
Option 2 provides direction to continue processing the rezoning for 266 East Esplanade. Staff 
will continue to present to Council rezoning applications that pursue a lounge endorsement 
on an individual basis.

Should Council prefer Option 2, the following motion is recommended:

THAT staff be directed to process the rezoning application for 266 East Esplanade 
to permit a brewery and accessory lounge.

Option 3: Direct staff to proceed no further with the application

Council has the ability to reject an application at any time.

Should Council prefer Option 3, the following motion is recommended:

THAT staff be directed not to process the rezoning application for 266 East 
Esplanade to permit a brewery and accessory lounge.

Page 5 of 6



REPORT: Preliminary Direction for Rezoning: 266 East Esplanade
Date: September 19, 2018

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION

Consultation will be undertaken as required dependent on the direction of Council.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Nil.

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

The Manager of Business Services agrees that lounges associated with breweries provide 
several important synergies for breweries: promotion of the brand, the opportunity for product 
testing, and an important revenue stream to support brewing activities. These synergies 
provide expanded business opportunities in the community and contribute significantly to 
tourism. There are many examples around the world of where the development of the craft 
brewery industry and public access to it has contributed significantly to economic 
development both through the industry itself as well as in attracting tourists to a community. 
The Manager believes that the proposed location in Lower Lonsdale and proximity to 
Lonsdale, the Shipyards and the SeaBus Terminal provide an ideal location for this type of 
use. By providing lounge use as of right - accessory to breweries or distilleries - we are 
facilitating the process for the brewery industry and creating an environment that supports 
small businesses, entrepreneurs and tourism.

The recommendation in this report was supported by the City’s Civic Projects Team on 
September 18th, 2018.

SUSTAINABILITY COMMENTS

The applicant is proposing a complete renovation of the existing structure which would include 
upgrades to the building fapade and mechanical systems which would improve the site’s 
energy efficiency.

CORPORATE PLAN AND/OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Nil.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

MF/rf/eb

Page 6 of 6



3
0

9

2 3 8

2
6

6

2
6

2

2
4

7

9
0

2
2

7

6

2 5 5

9
5

2
6

0

2
3

6

2
6

6

2 5 1 3
1

2

2
5

9

2
6

1

3 2 1

2
1

6

8

2
4

0

2
2

3

2
2

4

2
4

5

2
6

6

3
2

8

2
3

5

3
4

2

8
6

3
2

0

2
7

0

2
1

1

3 1 2

3
0

0

1
1

2

2
4

7

2
5

1

2
6

6

3
1

0

2
1

2

3
3

8

8
6

2
3

0

3 6 5

3
4

1

2
5

1

2
3

7

2
5

8

2
3

9

2
2

9

2
1

4

2
3

7

2
5

6

2 7 5

2
6

6 3 3 0

2
3

9

2
5

1

5

2
2

5

2
5

0

2
7

4

3
3

2

2
6

6

2
6

6

3
0

3

3
3

3

3
2

2

2
4

6

3 1 5

3 1 0

2
3

6

2
1

3

3 7 1

2
5

1

3 3 3

2
5

1

2 5 1

2
5

1

3 0 3

2
5

1

2
5

1

2
5

1

2
5

1

2
1

7

Emera
Park

Derek
Inman Park

Hamersley
Park

Victory Ship Way St
 A

nd
re

w
's

 A
ve

E 2nd St

E Esplanade

E 1st St

Context Map: 266 East Esplanade Subject Site



Copyright reserved. These drawings are, and at all times,
remain the exclusive property of the Architects, and cannot

be used without the consent of the architects.

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

JOB TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONS

DRAWN CHECKED

JOB NO. DATE

266-276 EAST ESPLANADE
AVENUE

715 East Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC  V6A 1R3

604 633 1830
hello@carscadden.ca
@CarscaddenArch
carscadden.ca

McDonald Architects Inc.
Carscadden Stokes

COVER SHEET

ISSUED FOR RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVIEW 2017 SEP 01

RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVISION 2018 MAR 13

A0.0

266-276 EAST ESPLANADE AVENUE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT

OWNER/SITE
CARSCADDEN STOKES MCDONALD ARCHITECTS INC.
715 East HAstings Street
Vancouver, BC  V6A 1R3
P       (604) 633-1830
W      www.carsscadden.ca

Ian Ross McDonald, PARTNER, ARCHITECT AIBC AAA
E      ian@carscadden.ca

HARBOURVIEW GROUP
400 - 38 Fell Avenue
North Vancouver, BC  V7P 3S2

Alan Saunders
E      al@harbourviewprojects.ca

STRUCTURALARCHITECTURAL

A0.0 COVER SHEET
A0.1 COMMERCIAL CONTEXT
A2.0 SITE PLAN
A2.1 GROUND FLOOR PLAN
A2.2 SECOND FLOOR PLAN
A2.3 ROOF PLAN
A3.1    BUILDING ELEVATIONS
A4.1 RENDERINGS

MECHANICAL ELECTRICAL



COMMERCIAL CONTEXT

Copyright reserved. These drawings are, and at all times,
remain the exclusive property of the Architects, and cannot

be used without the consent of the architects.

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

JOB TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONS

DRAWN CHECKED

JOB NO. DATE

266-276 EAST ESPLANADE
AVENUE

715 East Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC  V6A 1R3

604 633 1830
hello@carscadden.ca
@CarscaddenArch
carscadden.ca

McDonald Architects Inc.
Carscadden Stokes

A0.1

2017 SEP 01ISSUED FOR RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVIEW 2017 SEP 01

RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVISION 2018 MAR 13

RECENTLY COMPLETE POLYGON GALLERY NEW WATERFRONT DEVELOPMENTS INCLUDE RENOVATIONS TO LONSDALE STATION,
THE POLYGON GALLERY, AND NEW RESTAURANTS LIKE THE TAP & BARREL.

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT INCREASING IN VOLUME AND VARIETY





Copyright reserved. These drawings are, and at all times,
remain the exclusive property of the Architects, and cannot

be used without the consent of the architects.

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

JOB TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONS

DRAWN CHECKED

JOB NO. DATE

266-276 EAST ESPLANADE
AVENUE

715 East Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC  V6A 1R3

604 633 1830
hello@carscadden.ca
@CarscaddenArch
carscadden.ca

McDonald Architects Inc.
Carscadden Stokes

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

ISSUED FOR RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVIEW 2017 SEP 01

A2.2

ST
. A

ND
RE

W
'S

 A
VE

NU
E

EAST ESPLANADE AVENUE

BREWHOUSE

SEATING

PACKAGING AREA

KITCHEN

WALK IN
COOLER

WASHROOMS

BREWERY
LAB

STORAGE

SEATING

SEATING

CRU 2 CRU 3 CRU 4

SMALL SCALE PLAN LEGEND

CRU 1

PL

PL

1 GROUND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1/4" = 1'-0"

RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVISION 2018 MAR 13

PL PL101

A

B



OFFICE
SPACE

OFFICE
SPACE

COLD ROOM

KEG
RISING
ROOM

BARREL
STORAGE

JANITOR
CLOSET

BOILER
ROOM

Copyright reserved. These drawings are, and at all times,
remain the exclusive property of the Architects, and cannot

be used without the consent of the architects.

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

JOB TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONS

DRAWN CHECKED

JOB NO. DATE

266-276 EAST ESPLANADE
AVENUE

715 East Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC  V6A 1R3

604 633 1830
hello@carscadden.ca
@CarscaddenArch
carscadden.ca

McDonald Architects Inc.
Carscadden Stokes

SECOND FLOOR PLAN

ISSUED FOR RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVIEW 2017 SEP 01

A2.3

CRU 5

CRU 6 CRU 7

CRU 8 CRU 9 CRU 10

1 SECOND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1/4" = 1'-0"

SMALL SCALE PLAN LEGEND

BREWHOUSE

EAST ESPLANADE AVENUE

RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVISION 2018 MAR 13

PL PL101

A

B

W/C

W/C



Copyright reserved. These drawings are, and at all times,
remain the exclusive property of the Architects, and cannot

be used without the consent of the architects.

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

JOB TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONS

DRAWN CHECKED

JOB NO. DATE

266-276 EAST ESPLANADE
AVENUE

715 East Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC  V6A 1R3

604 633 1830
hello@carscadden.ca
@CarscaddenArch
carscadden.ca

McDonald Architects Inc.
Carscadden Stokes

ROOF PLAN

ISSUED FOR RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVIEW 2017 SEP 01

A2.4
1 ROOF PLAN

SCALE 1/4" = 1'-0"

SMALL SCALE PLAN LEGEND

GREEN ROOF

OPEN PATIO

RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVISION 2018 MAR 13

PL PL101

A

B



BIKE REPAIR

Copyright reserved. These drawings are, and at all times,
remain the exclusive property of the Architects, and cannot

be used without the consent of the architects.

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

JOB TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONS

DRAWN CHECKED

JOB NO. DATE

266-276 EAST ESPLANADE
AVENUE

715 East Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC  V6A 1R3

604 633 1830
hello@carscadden.ca
@CarscaddenArch
carscadden.ca

McDonald Architects Inc.
Carscadden Stokes

BUILDING ELEVATIONS

ISSUED FOR RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVIEW 2017 SEP 01

A3.1
2 SOUTH ELEVATION

SCALE 1/4" = 1'-0"

1 EAST ELEVATION
SCALE 1/4" = 1'-0"

ELEMENTS

27

6

9

8

11

1 11

8
6

2
2

12 7 10 13

39'-10"

0'-0"

39'-10"

0'-0"

ROASTERY MAKERLAB UPSTAIRSREPAIRS

106
-209

RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVISION 2018 MAR 13

7



Copyright reserved. These drawings are, and at all times,
remain the exclusive property of the Architects, and cannot

be used without the consent of the architects.

SHEET

SHEET TITLE

JOB TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONS

DRAWN CHECKED

JOB NO. DATE

266-276 EAST ESPLANADE
AVENUE

715 East Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC  V6A 1R3

604 633 1830
hello@carscadden.ca
@CarscaddenArch
carscadden.ca

McDonald Architects Inc.
Carscadden Stokes

RENDERINGS

ISSUED FOR RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVIEW

A4.1

1 PERSPECTIVE

2 SOUTH ELEVATION

RZ PRE-APPLICATION REVISION 2018 MAR 13



Ro
ge

rs
 L

an
e

St
. P

at
ric

ks
 A

ve

St
. G

eo
rg

es
Av

e

Lo
ns

da
le 

Av
e

E 6th St

St
. A

nd
re

ws A
ve

W Esplanade

W 1st St

W 2nd St
E 5th St

Alder St

Wallace M e ws

E 4th St

E 1st St

E Esplanade

E 2nd St

E 3rd St

Victory Ship Way

Low Level Rd

City of North Vancouver

M-4 Zoning:

PUBLISHED: September 13, 2018 

PATH: H:\CNV_Maps\Comm_Devt\M4_Zones\
COORDINATE SYSTEM: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 10N

GIS Division, Information Technology, 
City of North Vancouver

0 50 100 150
Meters

FILE: M4_Zoning_8_5x11

Legend

M-4 Zoning Sites

Legal Parcels

Park

This map was produced on the City of North 
Vancouver's Geographic Information System. 
Data provided herein is derived from sources 
with varying levels of accuracy and detail. 
The City of North Vancouver disclaims all 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness 
of information contained herein.

DISCLAIMER

Se
a 

Bu
s

Fe
rry

Con
ne

cti
on

Squamish
Nation

Industrial - Commercial
Sites

Overview



Policy Committee Meeting
Breweries and Lounges

Presented February 2019

Mike Friesen, Planning



Presentation Outline

• Background
• Area Analysis
• Policy Discussion
• Processes and Timelines
• Economic Development Discussion
• Options

2



Background

3



Background
City Zoning Bylaw

4



Background
City Zoning Bylaw

5



Background 
Liquor Licenses

6

• Liquor Primary
• Food Primary
• Manufacturer’s Tasting
• Manufacturer’s Lounge



Background 
Liquor Licenses

7

• Liquor Primary
– Purpose: To sell all types of liquor to patrons 

for onsite consumption, e.g. bars, pubs, clubs
• Food Primary
• Manufacturer’s Tasting
• Manufacturer’s Lounge



Background 
Liquor Licenses

8

• Liquor Primary
• Food Primary

– Purpose: To sell liquor for onsite consumption 
when food is served to patrons, e.g. 
restaurants.

• Manufacturer’s Tasting
• Manufacturer’s Lounge



Background 
Liquor Licenses

9

• Liquor Primary
• Food Primary
• Manufacturer’s Tasting

– Purpose: To provide samples demonstrating 
the taste of the product. Limited to 125ml per 
serving and 375 ml per customer per day

• Manufacturer’s Lounge



Background 
Liquor Licenses

10

• Liquor Primary
• Food Primary
• Manufacturer’s Tasting
• Manufacturer’s Lounge

– Purpose: To sell liquor for onsite consumption, 
either indoors or outdoors. Food must be 
available to patrons.



Background 
Liquor Licenses

11

License
Rezoning 
Required

Council Resolution 
Required

Public Notification 
Required

Liquor Primary Yes Yes Yes

Food Primary No No No

Manufacturer's Tasting No No No

Manufacturer's Lounge Yes Yes Yes



Background
Breweries in North Vancouver

12

• Black Kettle – W1 Zone, Manufacturer’s 
Tasting

• Green Leaf – CD-30 Zone, Liquor Primary 
(associated with Lonsdale Quay Hotel)

• Beere – M-4 Zone, Manufacturer’s Tasting



Area Analysis
Context

13



Area Analysis

14



Area Analysis
Transit

15



Area Analysis
Active Transportation

16



Area Analysis
Civic Amenities

17



Area Analysis
Surrounding Land Uses

18



Area Analysis

19



Policy Discussion
Plans

20



Policy Discussion
Zoning

Major considerations
– Continued focus on production
– Existing and future character of the area
– Support for small businesses
– Proximity to Lonsdale core
– Changing industrial trends in Metro 

Vancouver
– Nuisance to adjacent users/residents

21



Policy Discussion 
Zoning

Proposed Changes
– Permit lounge use accessory to a brewing or 

distilling use to a maximum of the lesser of:
• 30% of building area; or
• 80 m2 or 861.1 square feet (Maximum of 

approximately 50 patrons)

22



Policy Discussion 
Zoning

Proposed Changes
– Permit lounge use accessory to a brewing or 

distilling use to a maximum of the lesser of:
• 30% of building area; or
• 80 m2 or 861.1 square feet (Maximum of 

approximately 50 patrons)
– Permit an onsite outdoor patio area no more 

than 50% of permitted lounge area
• Maximum of 40m2 or 430.6 square feet 

(approximately 30 additional patrons)

23



Process 
Existing

24



Process
Proposed

25



Economic Development

• Growth in the craft beer industry
• Changing culture
• Transformative impact on neighbourhoods and 

Cities
• “Beer Tourism”
• Sense of identity
• Small business innovation
• Challenge for the industry

26



Options

27

Option 1: That staff process the application for 
rezoning at 266 East Esplanade, and continue to 
seek direction on a site by site basis.

Option 2: That staff prepare an amendment to the 
M-4 Industrial Commercial Zone to support 
breweries and distilleries with an accessory 
lounge.



28

Thank you.



As the purpose of this change to the M4 Commercial Industrial Zoning, is to facilitate an 
expansion of the tourist area in ‘Lower Lonsdale The Shipyards District’, I feel a certain amount 
of consideration is necessary. As we know Industrial zoning is essential for the viability of any 
community and its loss is rarely replaced, it is important for the City to manage the change in 
usage as to not lose control of the intent of the change. 

I have outlined a few points that should be taken into consideration when drawing up this 
amendment to zone usage. 

Each properties change of usage should be done on an individual Zone change application for 
the intended property, and all applications should be treated separately, not in a blanket 
change to the designated usage area. 

As the intent of this change is for a tourist specific area, sale of alcohol should go no later than 
11pm. 

The total size of Licensed Patron area should be no larger than 1500sf. 

Each property should have an On Site Kitchen (not food truck service), which must be open and 
operating at all times of Liquor Service. 

Parking must be provided by each business in accordance with the Municipal zoning 
requirements of a Restaurant/Pub/Entertainment facility so as not to have an adverse impact 
on the residents and other businesses in that area. 

Allan Riedlinger 
Brian Riedlinger 
Sailor Hagar’s Pub 
86 Semisch Avenue 
North Vancouver 

Received January 22, 2019
Pol. Com. Mtg - Licensed Lounges
File: 01-0550-20-0310/1



City of North Vancouver - Mayor and Council 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

Mayor Buchanan and Council, 

January 29th, 2019 

Please accept this letter in support of administrative definition changes to allow breweries, which are 
in Manufacturing (M4) zoning, to also have lounges in addition to the currently allowed tasting 
rooms. 

My understanding is this would allow the breweries in M4 zoning to serve more than just 1 tasting 
flight totalling 12oz per person, per day. Instead the breweries in M4 zoning would be permitted to 
act just as most other breweries in our province do and serve various sized glasses of beer to 
customers. A lounge endorsement permits this, and I support this being adopted as a bylaw 
amendment to M4 zoning. 

The reasons I am supporting this change include the following: 

I believe this change in the vicinity of Lower Lonsdale is crucial to the expansion plans the City of 
North Vancouver is undergoing. As we build more apartment buildings in this area, we also need to 
create and modify businesses that will increase this area’s liveability. In my opinion, if Lower 
Lonsdale (as well as the City of North Vancouver) is going to become a booming and attractive area 
to live in, more so than others, which the city seems to be aiming for, changes to M4 zoning and the 
option of having lounges in breweries will most definitely add to the appeal. I believe having craft 
breweries in our neighbourhoods is a Canadian right of passage, and allowing breweries in M4 
zoning to serve more than one tasting flight, as well as having lounges in addition to tasting rooms, 
could attract more tourists to the area, ultimately increasing the profit of the tourist industry in North 
Vancouver. 

Let’s put the Lower Lonsdale area and the City of North Vancouver on the map for craft beer. 
Neighbourhoods such as Port Moody and East Vancouver have seen the benefits of encouraging 
small, locally owned businesses such as small craft breweries to flourish. This amendment does this 
and I support it. 

Thank you, 

Caroline Harris 

5503 Huckleberry Lane 
North Vancouver, BC 
V7R4N9 

Received January 29, 2019
Pol. Com. Mtg - Licensed Lounges 
File: 01-0550-20-0310/1



City of North Vancouver - Mayor and Council 
14, West , 4th Street 
North Vancouver, BC 
V7M 1H9 

January 29m, 2019 

Mayor Buchanan and Council, 

Please accept this letter in support of administrative definition changes to allow breweries, 
which are in Manufacturing (M4) zoning, to also have lounges in addition to the currently 
allowed tasting rooms. 

My understanding is this would allow the breweries in M4 zoning to serve more than just 1 
tasting flight totalling 12oz per person, per day. Instead the breweries in M4 zoning would be 
permitted to act just as most other breweries in our province do and serve various sized glasses 
of beer to customers. A lounge endorsement permits this, and I support this being adopted as a 
bylaw amendment to M4 zoning. 

The reasons I am supporting this change include the following: 

I believe it will bring a positive energy to Lower Lonsdale, and the City of North Vancouver as a 
whole. Having craft breweries in my neighbourhood is a major draw for me and others, and 
increases the liveability of the area. 

Let's put the Lower Lonsdale area and the City of North Vancouver on the map for craft beer. 
Neighbourhoods such as Port Moody and East Vancouver have seen the benefits of 
encouraging small, locally owned businesses such as small craft breweries to flourish. This 
amendment does this and I support it. 

Thank you, 

,es-Q_ 
Madelaine Dawson 

111-360 2nd St E
North Vancouver, BC
V7L 4N6

Received January 29, 2019
Pol. Com. Mtg - Licensed Lounges 
File: 01-0550-20-0310/1



141 WEST 14TH STREET / NORTH VANCOUVER / BC / V7M 1H9
T 604 985 7761 / F 604 985 9417 / CNV.ORG                  

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING

A Policy Committee Meeting is scheduled to receive input on 
options for regulating licensed lounges accessory to breweries and 
distilleries in the M-4 Commercial-Industrial Zone and to make 
recommendations for Council’s consideration.

All interested members of the public are invited to attend.

Agenda

 2. Comments from the public (3 minutes per speaker)
 3. Questions and comments from the Policy Committee
 4. Recommendation of the Policy Committee
 5. Adjourn

Members of the public may submit written comments to the City 

and address and should be sent to the City Clerk, at input@cnv.org, 
or by mail or delivered to City Hall.  Submissions must be received 
no later than 4:00 pm, Monday, February 4, 2019, to ensure their 
availability to Council at the Public Meeting.

The report and background material will be available for viewing at 
City Hall between 8:30 am and 5:00 pm, Monday to Friday, except 
Statutory Holidays, from January 25, 2019, and online at 
cnv.org/PublicMeetings.

Please direct any inquires to Mike Friesen, Planner 1, at 
mfriesen@cnv.org or 604-990-4206.

WHO: City of North Vancouver 
WHAT: Policy Committee Meeting - Options to
 Regulate Licensed Lounges Accessory
 to Breweries and Distilleries
WHEN: Monday, February 4, 2019 at 6:00 pm
 Council Chamber, City Hall
 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
8. Darla Johnston, NVFC Euro 2019 Parent Committee, January 14, 2019 

– File: 01-0220-07-0001/2019 
 
 Re: North Vancouver Football Club 2019 Euro Travel Team 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the correspondence from Darla Johnston, NVFC Euro 2019 Parent 
Committee, dated January 14, 2019, regarding the “North Vancouver Football 
Club 2019 Euro Travel Team”, be received with thanks; 
 
AND THAT Council support the North Vancouver Football Club 2019 Euro Travel 
Team with funding in the amount of $          per player, for a total of $         , to be 
allocated from the Council Contingency Fund. 

 
  



January 14, 2019

0 NORTH VANCOUVER FOOTBALL CLUB *

21319IEUR0
| TRAVEL TEAM 111

Dear Mayor and Council,

North Vancouver Football Club (NVFC) is providing an opportunity for thirteen elite North Vancouver 
U11 players to travel to Spain and Italy. The trip takes place from May 2nd to May 16th, 2019 and 
will let these boys experience the passion and culture that makes soccer such a great game.

A trip like this is a once in a lifetime opportunity for these highly talented and dedicated young boys 
who were selected based on the following criteria:

• Technical Ability and Skill
• Coachability
• Tactical Understanding
• Workrate and attitude
• Performance (current and trending)

In previous years, the City of North Vancouver has supported the NVFC Euro Team by providing 
financial assistance. In addition to our team’s ongoing fundraising, this year’s group would 
appreciate any financial contribution you could provide.

Our players would welcome the opportunity to present to council at an upcoming meeting and an-
swer any questions about the trip you may have. I have attached a roster of our team and maps of 
where we are travelling.

We look forward to representing our community on an international stage, please contact me directly 
at 604.812.8372 or email: darla@cosmocopters.com to answer any questions or to arrange 
attendance at a council meeting.



Avundawl
Nimes* | •

Montpafllon^FRANCE
i*Touiousc

•DaycnnoOv<edo*
Qilbao* Nafbonnt ‘ 

■'^Perpi^ian.

^•Lugo

•Pampiona'
LeonaPontc\

‘Oicnse •Lofforo ^NOGPKA•Sufoos

\AI»ado}?4< AXZaragoza

'Caialayud
•Leiida

rotonaR»0^2V

•it^aJamarica 5 j {vj

Madrid^ •Tcruel

PORTUGAL
/ Toiedo*'

\faiomia d64 
A'canlara

Badafii
Albaccto*Meiida

icanto
igiitav;
Munaa^

Avamonlc Cjttagcna
'Huetva

Antequera^

gJe<e/ do la 
fjontefa

Canary Islands

asm;

WOHOCCO

2l'l

la Plana

MaIJo!

Spain
—inlornalionaJ Boundary

------ Road
------- Rivor

'k National Capital

• City or Townibraltar (UK.) 

»jula ISP.)
50 100 Mitot

<§>206; Ge^l^ comALGERIAfl

May 2, 2019 - The team travels from - 
Vancouver - Valencia, Spain

We will play clubs:

Valencia
Castillejo



Innsbruck ■ - ^ Gra?'«

AUSTRIA 1
____^

^^oJr--s»^X5' '
1M CSLOVENIA ,

Udm2 ? v -■$'J
‘e* Goraiar ★Ljubljana

Bern*. Lucerne

“SWITZERLAND HUNGARY |
*N ^Kapcsvar ig

Pecs# A\ *leneva’

.SERBIA
ZagrebChamber: Aosta \ *8ergamo ^ 

Brescia* t 
v ♦Pa»TaiCremona'/e!C

CROATIANovara^
Vercefb-*
jT TanaroT\

^mjbe•Karlovac

Turinl
Piacenza'

BOSNIAAND 
HERZEGOVINA 
\ Sarajevo ★

• Ravenna
Fori i • V

>,a *R«mmi
*Praio 0 ttPesero
.^Fjc/ence, SAfsj 

' \ \ l MARINO * Ancona

« Arezzo 
Siena

^Perugia
\ JPjkscoli Piceno#

\ Terarno#
. •Tern} P)
’ fveti» # # ™

•? LAquila Chieli

Zadar

Livorno’
•Mostar

♦ Macerala

#Grosseto Oubrovnil

Viterbo.

^Ban• Benevento Andria 

•Aveuino
iSalemo Poienza Taranto

itranto

•Cosenza

Caianzaro

Palermo

CaUamssetta
Caiama

llracusaRagusa

y»' vj I y™" \ \ ~ Parrna#

OC Reggie
CCuneo# .Savona.^iipenoa Emilia

fTX ) La Spoiii)^ fjiassaf

Nice »» Imperis lucca.
Cannes, MONACO Piss*

siie

Corsica1 

(France i

VAi’ICAN Ur .™ ITALY
CM V N Frosinc>f>6* isernia# ^Campooasso 

•Latina Foggia*

Ajac

Bonifac

Oibia
Sasser indisi

Nuoro# yrrhenianTu

-•Oristano

Sardinia
Cagliari

iU::r

Reggio on Calabria

Strait
■ Iniernaiional Boundary

------- Road
---------River
^ National Capital
• City or Town

Sicily
C Panteiier.e

50 100 KM
TA%0 50 100 Miles

iO 2018 Osulofjy.com

Sosati MALTAisoie
Pelagie 'alletta

May 8, 2019 - The team travels from - 
Valencia, Spain - Bergamo and Verona, Italy

We will play clubs:

Cremonese 
Cittadella 

Inter Academia 
Hellas Verona 
Ferialpi Salo



\
Division f 
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
FINANCE DEPARTMENT

INFORMATION REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Debbie Cameron, Budget Analyst II - Finance

Subject: STATUS OF 2019 COUNCIL CONTINGENCY GRANTS ACCOUNTS

Date: January 23,2019 File No: 05-1840-20-0001/2019

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Contingency Grant Accounts at December 31, 2018 (CityDocs 1728992 V1)
Attachment 1 provides a look back at the same grant accounts in the previous year, for 
information and comparison.

The following tables provide up to date status of the Council Contingency grant account, and the 
Council Bereavement Donation Fund, as they are allocated during the current year.

General Contingency 2019

2019 Budget $ 50,000.00

General Contingency Grants Issued:____________________________ Amount

Fire Prevention Officers Association of BC $ 1,495.00
50th Anniversary Conference and Seminar

Subtotal General Monies Issued $ 1,495.00

Remaining Budget $ 48.505.00

Document Number: 1728960 VI



REPORT: Status Of 2019 Council Contingency Grants Accounts 
Date: January 23, 2019

One Time Grants 2019

2019 Budget $ 50,000.00

One Time Grants Issued: ________________________________ Amount

Subtotal General Monies Issued

Remaining Budget

$ 0.00

$ 50.000.00

Council Bereavement Donations Fund 2019 
2019 Budget $ 5,000.00

General Contingency Grants Issued:____________________________ Amount

Subtotal General Monies Issued $ 0.00

Remaining Budget $ 5.000.00

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:
Name
Budget Analyst II - Finance

Page 2 of 2



ATTACHMENT 1

CONTINGENCY and GRANTS ACCOUNTS at DECEMBER 31, 2018

General Contingency 2018 Budget___________________ ___________ $50,000

Be More than a Bystander - Ending Violence Association of BC $2,500
Be More than a Bystander - North Shore Womens’ Centre 2,500
Canadian Federation of University Women 500
Community Arts Council 1,000
North Vancouver Football Club Euro Travel Team 2,600
North Shore Table Tennis Club - BC 55+ Table Tennis Tournament 1,000
Park and Tilford Garden - 50th Anniversary 1,000
St. Edmund’s Church - Musical Fundraiser- Centennial Theatre rental 4,075
NV City Firefighters Local 298 Fndn - Park and Tilford Hi-Light Festival 1,000
Operation Red Nose 2,000
NS Alliance Church - NS Community Christmas Dinner 2,500

Total Monies Granted in 2018 $20,675

Remaining Balance 2018__________________________________________ $29,325

One Time Grants 2018 Budget_______________________ ___________ $50,000

Total Monies Granted in 2018

Remaining Balance 2018__________________________________________ $50,000

Council Bereavement Donations Fund Budget 2018 ___________ $5,000

Covenant House - in Memory of Councillor S J Dean $1000

Total Monies Granted in 2018 1,000

Remaining Balance 2018___________________________________________ $4,000

Document Number: 1728992 VI



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
9. Recycling Council of British Columbia’s Conference on Circular Economy, May 8 

to 10, 2019 – File: 01-0230-20-0050/2019 
 

Re: Recycling Council of British Columbia’s Conference on Circular Economy, 
May 8 to 10, 2019, Whistler, BC 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
PURSUANT to the correspondence received January 17, 2019, from the 
Recycling Council of British Columbia, regarding the “Conference on Circular 
Economy”: 
 
THAT Council members be authorized to attend the Conference on Circular 
Economy, to be held May 8 to 10, 2019, in Whistler, BC; 
 
THAT the expenses be paid in accordance with City Policy; 
 
AND THAT the funds be provided from the Conference Education Travel 
Account. 

  



January 11, 2019

RCBC City c 
City C

'"couver 
■nent@ Mayor Linda Buchanan and Council

City of North Vancouver
141 West 14th Street
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9
Canada

JAN 7 7 2019
/ -04?0_o4 - (N50/7 

2^0/7

/File #
CC: 
ScannedjJ/KRECYCLING 

COUNCIL OF 
BRITISH 
COLUMBIA

Dear Mayor Linda Buchanan and Council:

Re: Recycling Council of British Columbia 45lh Annual Zero Waste/Circular Economy 
Conference 2019

Suite 10 
119 West Pender St 

Vancouver, BC 
V6B 1S5 
Canada

Established in 1974, the Recycling Council of British Columbia (RCBC) is Canada’s first non
profit waste prevention organization. Since that time, the Council has worked side-by-side with 
local governments to eliminate waste in B.C. and develop a sustainable circular economy.

phone: 
(604) 683-6009 We invite you to attend RCBC 2019 “Conference on Circular Economy” on May 8, 9,10 2019 

in Whistler, B.C., featuring a variety of topics relevant to local governments in B.C.
Programming for RCBC 2019 (www.rcbcconference.ca~) will include:

• extended producer responsibility
• illegal dumping
• reuse and repair

fax:
(604) 683-7255

• waste prevention
• communications and engagement

email:
rcbc@rcbc.ca

web:
www.rcbc.ca

As well, we plan to address a variety of waste, recycling, and diversion-related issues your council 
may be facing now or in the near future. We provide a three-day experience of workshops, 
presentations, and opportunities to network with professionals and area experts to become better 
informed. B.C.’s industry stewardship agencies, such as RecycleBC, Regeneration, and Encorp 
Pacific will be in attendance, as well as the BC Ministry of Environment.

RCBC provides comprehensive public education to support recycling and waste-related programs 
and services through the BC Recycling Hotline, the online Recyclepedia and the free BC 
Recyclepedia phone app. Last year alone, we answered more than 280,000 questions from people 
in communities just like yours.

In our public policy work, we engage a variety of stakeholders to collaboratively develop and 
recommend progressive waste prevention initiatives and legislation. RCBC also facilitates the 
sharing of knowledge, good practices, and professional development. All of those elements are 
included as part of Canada’s longest running waste prevention event, the annual RCBC Zero 
Waste Conference on Circular Economy, now in its 45th year.

Thank you for your continued support. Let us keep working together to make a waste-free 
province through the application of sustainable circular economy principles. If you have any 
questions, you can reach me at 604-683-6009 ext. 307 or at brock@rcbc.ca.

Sincerely, Reviewed by:

Brock Macdonald 
Chief Executive Officer SCkviUED

/ t



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
REPORT 
 
10. 50th Anniversary of Twinning Relationship with Chiba City – File 01-0400-65-0001/2019 
 

Report: Chief Administrative Officer, January 23, 2019 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated January 23, 
2019, entitled “50th Anniversary of Twinning Relationship with Chiba City”: 
 
THAT staff further explore the Twin City partnership to determine opportunities 
for honouring the City’s partnership in 2019 (Option 1), as outlined in the report; 
 
THAT the correspondence of George Sim, Chairman, North Shore Lions Youth 
Exchange, dated January 21, 2019, regarding “Request for Funding”, be 
received; 
 
AND THAT Council support the North Shore Lions Youth Exchange by providing 
funding in the amount of $6,000, to be allocated from the Sister City Fund. 

 
  

















 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
11. North Shore Housing – File 10-5040-01-0001/2019 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the historic escalation in housing prices has resulted in a lack of 
attainable housing options for those working on the North Shore with wide-
ranging implications for the North Shore’s economy and business vitality and 
increased congestion and lengthier commutes; 
 
WHEREAS the goal of achieving complete and inclusive communities with 
opportunities to live and work is shared by all jurisdictions on the North Shore; 
 
WHEREAS the City’s Housing Action Plan recognizes that partnerships are key 
to meaningfully addressing housing challenges on the North Shore given limited 
municipal resources; 
 
AND WHEREAS the needs of moderate income earners are not well served by 
any existing housing policies or programs; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that staff develop and implement a 
collaborative North Shore Housing “Solutions Lab” focused on identifying 
opportunities and high impact actions to address the urgent need for housing 
facing low and moderate income earners. 
 

  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 4, 2019 
 

 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(a) [personal information], 90(1)(e) 
[land matter] and 90(2)(b) [contract negotiations]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 


	1 Agenda
	2 Minutes�
	Proclamations
	Black History Month February 2019�
	Toastmasters Month February 2019�

	Public Input Period�
	*3 Bylaw 8692 - Recommendation�
	*3 Bylaw 8692�

	*4 Bylaw 8693 - Recommendation�
	*4 Bylaw 8693�

	*5 Bylaw 8694 - Recommendation�
	*5 Bylaw 8694�

	6 CityFEST - Recommendation�
	6 Delegation�
	6 Correspondence�

	Policy Committee Meeting for Licensed Lounges - Agenda and Recommendation
	Rpt Sep 19 2018 - 266 E Esplanade & Licensed Lounges
	Staff PP - Licensed Lounges
	Submissions - Licensed Lounges
	Notice - Licensed Lounges

	7 Licensed Lounges - Recommendation of Policy Committee
	8 NVFC 2019 Euro Travel Team - Recommendation�
	8 NVFC 2019 Euro Travel Team - Correspondence�
	IR Jan 23 2019�

	9 Recycling Conference - Recommendation�
	9 Recycling Conference - Correspondence�

	10 Chiba City - Recommendation�
	10 Chiba City - Report�
	IR Jan 30 2019

	11 North Shore Housing - Notice of Motion�
	Public Clarification Period�



